
 
 

Date of issue: Wednesday, 6 September 2023 
  
MEETING:  CABINET COMMITTEE - ASSET DISPOSALS 
 Councillor Smith  
 Councillor I. Ahmed  
 Councillor Bedi  
 Councillor Chahal  
 Councillor Muvvala  
  

DATE AND TIME: THURSDAY, 14TH SEPTEMBER, 2023 AT 4.30 PM 
  
VENUE: COUNCIL CHAMBER - OBSERVATORY HOUSE, 25 

WINDSOR ROAD, SL1 2EL 
  
DEMOCRATIC SERVICES 
OFFICER: 
(for all enquiries) 

NICHOLAS PONTONE 
 
01753 875120 

 
NOTICE OF MEETING 

 
You are requested to attend the above Meeting at the time and date indicated to deal with 
the business set out in the following agenda. 

 
STEPHEN BROWN 

Chief Executive 
 

AGENDA 
 

PART I 
 

AGENDA 
ITEM 

REPORT TITLE PAGE WARD 

    
 Apologies for absence.   

  
1.   Declarations of Interest 

 
- - 

 All Members who believe they have a Disclosable Pecuniary or 
other Interest in any matter to be considered at the meeting must 
declare that interest and, having regard to the circumstances 
described in Section 9 and Appendix B of the Councillors’ Code 
of Conduct, leave the meeting while the matter is discussed. 
 

  

 
2.   Minutes of the Meeting held on 16th March 2023 

 
 
 
 

1 - 2  

 



 ITEMS FOR REVIEW AND/OR RECOMMENDATION TO CABINET 
  

3.   Asset Disposal Programme Update 
 

To 
Follow 

All 
 
4.   Estates Strategy Update 

 
To 

Follow 
All 

 
5.   Observatory House - Strategic Business Case 

 
To 

Follow 
All 

 
6.   Slough Urban Renewal - Update 

 
To 

Follow 
All 

 
 ITEM FOR COMMENT & CONSIDERATION 

  
7.   Update on Nova House / Ground Rent Estates 5 Ltd 

(GRE5) 
 

3 - 10 Herschel 
Park 

 
8.   Exclusion of Press and Public 

 
- - 

 It is recommended that the Press and Public be excluded from the 
meeting during consideration of the item in Part 2 of the Agenda, as it 
involves the likely disclosure of exempt information relating to the 
financial and business affairs of any particular person (including the 
Authority holding the information) as defined in Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of 
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 (amended). 
 

  

 
PART II 

  
9.   Asset Disposal Programme Update - Appendices 

 
To 

Follow 
All 

 
10.   Slough Urban Renewal - Update - Appendices 

 
To 

Follow 
All 

 
11.   Observatory House - Strategic Business Case - 

Appendices 1 and 2 
 

To 
Follow 

All 

 
12.   Estates Strategy Update - Appendices To 

Follow 
All 

 
Press and Public 

 
Attendance and accessibility:  You are welcome to attend this meeting which is open to the press and public, as an 
observer. You will however be asked to leave before any items in the Part II agenda are considered.  For those hard of 
hearing an Induction Loop System is available in the Council Chamber. 
 
Webcasting and recording:  The public part of the meeting will be filmed by the Council for live and/or subsequent 
broadcast on the Council’s website.  The footage will remain on our website for 12 months.  A copy of the recording will 
also be retained in accordance with the Council’s data retention policy.  By entering the meeting room and using the public 
seating area, you are consenting to being filmed and to the possible use of those images and sound recordings.  
 
In addition, the law allows members of the public to take photographs, film, audio-record or tweet the proceedings at 
public meetings.  Anyone proposing to do so is requested to advise the Democratic Services Officer before the start of the 
meeting.  Filming or recording must be overt and persons filming should not move around the meeting room whilst filming 
nor should they obstruct proceedings or the public from viewing the meeting.  The use of flash photography, additional 
lighting or any non hand held devices, including tripods, will not be allowed unless this has been discussed with the 
Democratic Services Officer. 
 
Emergency procedures:  The fire alarm is a continuous siren.  If the alarm sounds Immediately vacate the premises by 
the nearest available exit at either the front or rear of the Chamber and proceed to the assembly point: The pavement of 
the service road outside of Westminster House, 31 Windsor Road. 
 

 



 

 

Cabinet Committee - Asset Disposals – Meeting held on Thursday, 16th 
March, 2023. 

 
Present:-  Councillors Swindlehurst (Chair), Ajaib, Anderson, Hulme and 

Mann 
  
Also present:- Councillor Strutton 

 
PART 1 

 
30. Declarations of Interest  

 
Cllr Hulme declared that she was a Councillor for Central Ward. 
 

31. Minutes of the meeting held on 12th January 2023  
 
Resolved – That the minutes of the meeting held on 12th January 2023 be 
approved as a correct record. 
 

32. GRE5/Nova House  
 
The Committee considered a report that updated on the position regarding 
Nova House/GRE5. 
  
Cllr Anderson summarised the report and commented that the situation with 
Nova House had been challenging, but that the Council had to carry on with 
progression of the works to address the significant safety issued identified.  It 
had become clear that the building had significant structural defects and these 
now had to be dealt with for the safety of residents living in the block.  The 
various options had been explored, and the Committee was now asked to 
approve the Business Plan for GRE5 and an increase in the loan facility of 
£5m. It was hoped that following the work plan outlined in the report would 
enable recovery of as much of the costs as possible. 
  
Cllr Mann added that previous weakness in governance structures had been 
exposed and this had now been improved, and that the main overarching aim 
was to ensure that the building was made safe for its residents. 
  
Members’ discussion centred on the importance of being aware of the issues 
that affected residents faced by the works, and also the importance of 
communication and ongoing dialogue with residents. 
  
In answer to questions regarding the insurance claim, it was explained that 
the loan would be advanced so that the necessary works could proceed, and 
would eventually be recompensed from the insurance claim. Legal advice had 
been that a proportion of funds would be recouped through the claim. The 
latest on the insurance claim was that a court date was expected this year, 
which hopefully would provide a resolution.  
  

Page 1

AGENDA ITEM 2



Cabinet Committee - Asset Disposals - 16.03.23 

 

The Chair invited Cllr Strutton to speak, who raised concerns over the ground 
rent and service charges the tenants were paying, and also the exceptional 
cost of legal fees and how that would be addressed. Members advised that 
they would request a written answer from officers regarding rent and service 
charges. On the issue of legal fees, the legal representative explained that 
additional defects which had been identified since the original insurance claim 
had changed the nature of the claim substantially and added to its complexity. 
  
Recommended to Cabinet: 
  

(a)  Approval of the business plan for GRE5, which was included as 
Appendix 1 to the report. 
  

(b)  Approval of an increase in the loan facility by £5m to allow the work 
programme to continue in advance of any recovery via the legal 
proceedings, future grant from Homes England or leaseholder 
recovery. 

  
And agreed to regular, at least quarterly, reports being presented to the 
Committee updating on progress and risks and for a future report 
recommending approval of an updated shareholder agreement. 
  
Resolved –  
  

(c)  That a briefing note from officers be provided tracking how the Council 
was formally communicating with the leaseholders and residents 
regarding milestones in terms of works to the building. 
  

(d)  Officers to invite the Company Directors to a future Cabinet Committee 
meeting. 

 
33. Exclusion of the Press and Public  

 
The Committee was able to conduct all business in the public part of the 
meeting without disclosing any of the exempt information in Part II of the 
published agenda. It was therefore not necessary to exclude the press and 
public. 
  
 

34. GRE5/Nova House  - Appendices  
 
Resolved –   That the Part II Appendices be noted. 
 
 

Chair 
 
 
(Note: The Meeting opened at 4.30 pm and closed at 5.04 pm) 
 

Page 2



 
Slough Borough Council 

Report To: 
 

Cabinet Committee - Assets Disposals 
Disposal Committee.  

Date:  
 

14 September 2023 

Subject: 
 

Update on Nova House / Ground Rent 
Estates 5 Ltd (GRE5) 

 
Lead Member: 
 

 
Councillor Wal Chahal  
Deputy Leader – Financial Oversight, Council 
Assets, Procurement and Revenues & 
Benefits 
 

Chief Officer: 
 

Pat Hayes, Executive Director Property & 
Housing  
  

Contact Officer: 
 

Mark Halligan - Assistant Director (Property) 

Ward(s): 
 

Herschel Park 

Key Decision: 
 

No 

Exempt: No  
 

Decision Subject To Call In: 
 

No 

Appendices: 
 

None 
 

  

1. Summary and Recommendations 

1.1 This report sets out an update on Ground Rent Estates 5 (GRE5) and the 
current position and future programme of works at Nova House since approval 
of the annual business plan and a further loan at the Committee on 16 March 
2023.  

Recommendations: 

1.2 The Committee is requested to:  
a) Note the current position, including the latest estimate of the final 

financial exposure of SBC. 

Reason  

1.3 To ensure member oversight of the governance of GRE5 and to update 
members on the progress with works at Nova House. 

Commissioner Review 

• The commissioners are content with the recommendations in this report. Good 
progress has been made in the negotiations, however the indicative financial 
exposure of the Council in this regard should be noted and will need to be 
addressed in due course.  

Page 3

AGENDA ITEM 7



 
2. Report 

Introduction 
2.1 Members are aware the Council received a formal direction from DLUHC made 

under s.15(5) and (6) of the Local Government Act 1999, including a direction 
that prescribed functions are to be exercised by Commissioners; and the 
appointment of Commissioners from 1 December 2021. 

2.2 A key component of the Directions is the need for the Council to demonstrate it 
is able to achieve financial sustainability. Under the Directions, the Council was 
required to review its companies within 6 months and consider the roles and 
case for continuing with each subsidiary company.  For those it agreed to 
continue, the Council should ensure the appointed directors are appropriately 
skilled in either technical or company governance matters to make sure the 
Board functions effectively under an explicit shareholder agreement and that 
there is a nominated shareholder representative.   

2.3 The Council’s acquisition of GRE5 was for a specific purpose and as set out in 
its business plan, one of its key strategic objectives is to develop an exit 
strategy following completion of the works to Nova House.   

Background 
2.4 Ground Rent Estates 5 Limited (“GRE5”) is a company which is 100% owned by 

Slough Borough Council (the Council).  GRE5 owns the freehold lease of Nova 
House, a block of 68 apartments in Slough town centre.  The building was 
previously office accommodation and was converted to an apartment block in 
2015 with additional floors added to the building.  

2.5 In 2018, the Council approved the acquisition of 100% of the share capital of 
GRE5 for £1 due to concerns about the capacity and ability of the company, 
and its existing shareholders, to undertake the substantial remediation works 
required and concerns about the safety of residents. GRE5 has legal obligations 
under the Building Safety Act 2022 due to Nova House being a high risk 
residential block. 

2.6 A scope of works and Development Agreement were agreed with Slough Urban 
Renewal (“SUR”) in 2021 and all Aluminium Composite Material (ACM) 
Cladding was removed by the end of January 2022.   However, the project was 
delayed due to covid restrictions and additional tests and surveys that were 
completed in financial year 20/21 and again in financial year 22/23, which 
identified a range of defects and technical issues.  

2.7 Following the removal of the cladding, several structural issues were identified 
relating to the Spine Beam, bracing to the building, shims and column 
connections. For safety reasons, this resulted in the halt of the cladding 
replacement whilst SUR and its building contractor, Morgan Sindall (with 
Structural engineers Arup), made assessments and provided remediation 
options for the structural issues. The structural issues will need to be 
remediated before the cladding and balconies can be replaced. 

2.8 Works during 2022 have focused on further investigations into the structural 
defects and design proposals for their remediation, this essential work has 
inevitably delayed the project and caused unavoidable, further disruption, to the 
residents of Nova House. Although it is also noted that due to the removal of the 
cladding and safety measures in place, the building has been made significantly 
safer from the risk of fire.  

Page 4



 
 
Current position 

 

2.9 Following a variation to the current development agreement being agreed at the 
beginning of June 2023, and early design and procurement of materials, the 
structural remediations to the building have commenced.  

2.10 During these works a phased decant of 18 flats is taking place, with residents 
being housed temporarily at the Residence Inn atop the Moxy Hotel. The first 6 
of these flats have been completed, with the residents due to return during 
August, when the next series of flats will be decanted.  

2.11 Structural remediation works are programmed for completion during November 
2023. During these works fire compartmentation defects that had been 
identified in the communal areas are also being addressed. On completion of 
these the waking watch can be removed from the building.  Waking watch costs 
are included up to 31 March 2024 in the current forecasts.  The waking watch is 
unlikely to be needed after completion of the internal works, which is currently 
forecast to be at the end of November.  However, this will need to be agreed 
with the Fire Service, and therefore a buffer has been included. 

2.12 At the beginning of August 2023, the structural remedial works have progressed 
to the stage where it is safe to commence the recladding of the building at the 
lower levels.  

2.13 The table below sets out the costs spent to date (as at end of June 2023), and 
those forecast to completion: 
 

£m Costs incurred to 
30 June 2023 

Expected future 
spend 

Forecast total 
spend 

Previous 
estimate (March 

2022) 
Ongoing costs* 2.6 1.1 3.7 2.8 
Legal costs 2.2 0.2 2.4 2.6 
Development 
contract 

10.4 6.2 16.6 10.6 

Remediation 
Works* 

- 3.6 3.6 - 

External works - 
other 

1.3 0.0 1.3 0.3 

Internal works* 0.0 0.6 0.6 3.3 
Decant 0.1 0.1 0.2 - 
Total 16.6 11.8 28.4 19.6 

*includes waking watch costs, project management costs and directors fees 

2.14 The total cost included in the table above is consistent with that reported in 
March 2023 and a comparison to the cost estimate in March 2022 is shown 
above.  The reasons behind the variation in cost between March 2022 and 
March 2023 was reported to the Asset Disposal Committee in March 2023.  The 
overall cost forecast is reviewed by the GRE5 Board on a monthly basis.  
Although a general contingency has not been included in the costs, estimates 
have been made on a prudent basis and all the development contract and 
remediation work budget has been reviewed for reasonableness by Artelia on 
behalf of GRE5. 

Page 5



 
 

Forecast programme. 
 
2.15 The structural remedial works are programmed for completion in November 

2023, the focus will then be on completion of the cladding works including 
reinstallation of the balconies and the internal installation of the sprinkler 
system. The sprinkler system cannot be installed until the scaffold has been 
removed as supports for the scaffold impede on the areas needed for the water 
storage tank.  

2.16 The replacement cladding works will be carried out for the remainder of 2023 
and be completed in the 3rd quarter of 2024, following sectional completions of 
the cladding the balconies will also be reinstated, this entails significant 
additional steelwork also being installed due to defects in the original 
construction. 

2.17 The current forecast is for all these works, including the sprinkler system to be 
complete in December 2024. 
 

3 Implications of the Recommendation 
 
Financial implications 
3.1 Mediation with the Insurer has been completed with an agreement for a 

substantial sum as a full and final settlement to the claim, against items covered 
by the insurance backed building warranty, by GRE5 for the cladding and 
structural works. Items not covered by this policy were not able to be recovered 
and GRE5 continue to pursue alternative means to recover these costs. 

3.2 GRE5 and the Council have been successful in obtaining £9.2m in grant from 
the Building Safety Fund towards the cladding works.  The Grant Funding 
Agreement was signed in October 2021. Eligibility rules have recently been 
changed to include strengthening works directly relating to the replacement of 
cladding to the building and decanting, a variation for further grant is currently 
being discussed with Homes England who administer the fund. This also 
includes revised costs and estimates to the works which formed part of the 
original grant award.  The current grant is subject to clawback provisions 
following the recovery from the insurers, this is currently being discussed with 
Homes England. 

3.3 Under the clawback provisions of the Grant Funding Agreement, GRE5 are 
obliged to notify Homes England of any amount recovered against the eligible 
funded works within 12 years of the agreement date. Following the recovery of 
these GRE5 will if requested repay the amount it has received in relation to 
these eligible works, that have been funded by Homes England, capped at the 
maximum sum of the agreement net of any share of irrecoverable costs.  

3.4 GRE5 are working with Fenchurch Law and Homes England to apportion the 
insurance sum against the eligible items to establish the level of clawback 
applicable. This is due to be complete and submitted to Homes England in 
October 2023.  

3.5 The combination of the successful insurance claim, Homes England funding 
and loan from the Council has resulted in sufficient funds being available to 
complete the works and recladding of the building.  However, there is a shortfall 

Page 6



 
between the insurance settlement and the total cost of the works.  The element 
of this shortfall which will be to the account of the Council is subject to 
discussion with Homes England on additional grant being eligible and the level 
of clawback from the sum recovered from the insurers. Additionally, GRE5 are 
establishing the sums that could be recharged to the leaseholders subject to the 
provisions of the Building Safety Act. 

3.6 The Building Safety Act 2022 has had an impact on the project with several 
requirements and legal obligations on freeholders such as GRE5.. This includes 
a cap on qualifying Leaseholders of £10,000 towards remediation costs 
(payable over 10 years).  A qualifying leaseholder is a leaseholder that owns a 
property in a high-risk building and on 14 February 2022, the lease was in 
existence and the property was the individual’s primary residence or the owner 
owned no more than three UK residential properties, including this property.   

3.7 Out of the 68 leaseholders in the building, GRE5 are in the process of 
identifying those that are designated ‘non-qualifying’ under the Building Safety 
Act and therefore not covered by the £10,000 cap above. The shortfall in 
funding can then be apportioned as allowed by the Building Safety Act between 
the Non-Qualifying Leaseholders proportionately against the number of 
properties they hold the leasehold interest in.  The relevant notices have been 
submitted to the leaseholders, on receipt of these GRE5 will be able to establish 
the number of qualifying against non-qualifying and further details will be 
presented to cabinet for consideration 

3.8 The loan facility with the Council is available for GRE5 to draw against, subject 
to approval of drawdown notices and up to a maximum balance of £15.0m, until 
August 2027.  Interest accrues on the balance of the loan monthly at a rate of 
6.0% per annum.  The balance on the loan facility with the Council was £9.9m 
(including £1.2m of accrued interest) as at 30 June 2023.   

3.9 The final exposure on the Council loan will depend on a number of factors, 
including the clawback position on the current HE funding of £9.2m, any future 
funding and any recovery from leaseholders.  Under a worst case scenario, 
where no future funding is awarded from HE, clawback under the existing Grant 
Funding Agreement is based on the current proposed position, all leaseholders 
are defined as Qualifying Leaseholders under the Building Safety Act and any 
leaseholder contribution is capped at £10k per leaseholder, the final Council 
exposure would be £7.6m (excluding accrued interest of £2.4m). 

3.10 Under what is understood to be a more realistic scenario, where HE does not 
require any clawback under the current Grant Funding Agreement in 
acknowledgement of the waiver of any further funding requirement, this liability 
reduces to £1.7m (excluding accrued interest of £2.0m).  This is before any 
additional recovery of costs from leaseholders as outlined above. 

 
Legal implications 
3.11 GRE5 is responsible for regulatory compliance of the Nova House site. The 

introduction of the Building Safety Act 2022 has significantly changed the rights, 
powers and protections for residents of high-rise buildings. The purpose behind 
the legislation is to provide leaseholders with protection from the costs 
associated with non-cladding defects, including interim measures like waking 
watches. Residents also have rights to report concerns to the Building Safety 
Regulator.  

Page 7



 
3.12 The Council owes a fiduciary duty to its taxpayers, as well as a best value duty 

to make arrangements to secure continuous improvement in the way its 
functions are exercised, having regard to a combination of economy, efficiency 
and effectiveness. Some of the works required to cover building defects are not 
covered by a Homes England grant, although the availability of grant funding 
has been widened over time. Any works undertaken by GRE5 to the building 
are likely to increase the value of the leases, but unlikely to substantially 
increase the value of the freehold interest. Therefore the Council needs to 
consider the recoverability of any loans, rather than assume that the value of its 
shareholding will increase.  GRE5 has sought professional advice and taken 
legal proceedings against the original warranty holder and this has been subject 
to a mediated settlement.  The Council is awaiting details of the recoverability of 
the remainder of its loan from qualifying leaseholders and the extent to which 
Homes England will recoup its grant funding from the settlement figure.  A 
range of scenarios is set out in this report in relation to loan repayment.  
Members will be kept updated on this figure and the extent to which any 
outstanding loan should be written off. 

Risk management implications 
3.13 The table below sets the key risks 

Risk Summary  Mitigations 

Financial Non payment of loan. GRE5 directors have instructed 
lawyers and other professionals to 
pursue recovery action.  It has also 
applied for a Homes England grant 
and been in discussions about further 
grant opportunities and is considering 
other recovery action.  Despite this 
there is still a significant risk that not 
all of the loan will be repayable. 

Legal Legal responsibilities to 
residents  

GRE5 has experienced directors who 
have the skills and knowledge to run 
a company managing a high risk 
building.  Professional advice has 
been sought, including on the new 
regulatory requirements.  Once the 
works are complete the Council 
needs to consider an exit strategy as 
the Council’s original purpose in 
acquiring the company was to ensure 
that works were undertaken to rectify 
the building defects.  The timescale 
for this was set out in the approved 
business plan as 2025/26.  

Reputational That taxpayer funds 
were used to fund works 
to a residential building.  

Open and transparent reporting will 
allow residents and taxpayers to 
understand decision-making and the 
efforts made to manage the financial 
risks of the works.   

 

Page 8



 
Environmental Implications 
3.14 There are no direct environmental implications as a result of the 

recommendations contained in this report.  
Equality implications  
3.15 The Council has a duty contained in section 149 of the Equality Act to have due 

regard to the need to:  
(a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct 
that is prohibited by or under this Act;  
(b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it;  
(c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it.  
The protected characteristics are:  
� age  
� disability;  
� gender reassignment;  
� pregnancy and maternity;  
� race;  
� religion or belief;  
� sex;  
� sexual orientation.  

The broad purpose of this duty is to integrate considerations of equality into day-to-day 
business and to keep them under review in decision making, the design of policies and 
the delivery of services.  
Procurement implications  
3.16 One of the Directions includes specific reference to the procurement and 

contract management function. Any element of this project that requires 
procurement will be subject to our usual procedures.  

Workforce implications  
3.17 No direct workforce implications. 
 
Property implications  
3.18 The future of GRE5 and Nova House are key considerations in the review of 

council assets. 

4 Background Papers 

 None. 
  

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the Meeting held on 16th March 2023
	7 Update on Nova House / Ground Rent Estates 5 Ltd (GRE5)
	Slough Borough Council
	1.	Summary and Recommendations
	Recommendations:
	Commissioner Review

	2.	Report
	Introduction


	Workforce implications
	Property implications
	4	Background Papers



